



# Investing

## dummies

A Wiley Brand



Get up to speed on the latest tax laws

Choose your shares with confidence



#### **David Stevenson**

Author of *Investing in Shares For Dummies* 

**Eric Tyson, MBA** 



## Investing

by David Stevenson and Eric Tyson, MBA



#### **Investing For Dummies®**

Published by: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774, www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2025 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All rights reserved, including rights for text and data mining and training of artificial technologies or similar technologies.

Media and software compilation copyright © 2025 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All rights reserved, including rights for text and data mining and training of artificial technologies or similar technologies.

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748–6011, fax (201) 748–6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

**Trademarks:** Wiley, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002. For technical support, please visit https://hub.wiley.com/community/support/dummies.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2025939646

ISBN 978-1-394-35115-2 (pbk); ISBN 978-1-394-35116-9 (epub); ISBN 978-1-394-35117-6 (epdf)

## **Contents at a Glance**

Introduction	1
Part 1: Getting Started with Investing  CHAPTER 1: Exploring Your Investment Choices.  CHAPTER 2: Weighing Risks and Returns.  CHAPTER 3: Getting Your Financial House in Order.	7
Part 2: Stocks and Bonds	
CHAPTER 4: The Workings of Stock and Bond Markets	
CHAPTER 6: Investigating and Purchasing Individual Stocks	
CHAPTER 7: Exploring Bonds and Other Loan Investments	
CHAPTER 8: Mastering Unit Trusts and Exchange-Traded Funds  CHAPTER 9: Choosing an Investment Platform	
Part 3: Growing Wealth with Property	197
CHAPTER 10: Investing in a Home	
CHAPTER 11: Investing in Property	211
CHAPTER 12: Property Financing and Deal Making	241
Part 4: The Part of Tens	257
CHAPTER 13: Ten Investing Obstacles to Conquer	259
CHAPTER 14: Ten Things to Weigh When Considering an Investment Sale CHAPTER 15: Ten Tips for Investing in a Down Stock Market	
Index	279

## **Table of Contents**

	DUCTION	1
	About This Book	2
	Foolish Assumptions	
	Icons Used in This Book	
	Beyond the Book	
	Where to Go from Here	
PART	1: GETTING STARTED WITH INVESTING	5
CHAPTER 1:	Exploring Your Investment Choices	7
	Getting Started with Investing	
	Building Wealth with Ownership Investments	
	Entering the stock market	
	Owning property	
	Generating Income from Lending Investments	
	Considering Cash Equivalents	
	Steering Clear of Futures and Options	
	Mulling Over Precious Metals	
	Contemplating Currencies and Cryptocurrencies	
	Counting Out Collectibles	19
CHAPTER 2:	Weighing Risks and Returns	23
	Evaluating Risks	24
	Evaluating Risks	
	Gauging market-value risk	25
	Gauging market-value risk	25 30 32
	Gauging market-value risk	25 30 32 34
	Gauging market-value risk	25 30 32 34
	Gauging market-value risk	25 30 34 34 34
	Gauging market-value risk	25 30 34 34 36 37
	Gauging market-value risk  Assessing individual-investment risk  Purchasing-power risk (also known as inflation risk)  Avoiding career risk.  Analysing Returns  Gathering the components of total return  Savings and money market account returns.  Bond returns  Stock returns	
	Gauging market-value risk  Assessing individual-investment risk  Purchasing-power risk (also known as inflation risk)  Avoiding career risk.  Analysing Returns  Gathering the components of total return  Savings and money market account returns.  Bond returns  Stock returns  Property returns	
	Gauging market-value risk  Assessing individual-investment risk  Purchasing-power risk (also known as inflation risk)  Avoiding career risk.  Analysing Returns  Gathering the components of total return  Savings and money market account returns.  Bond returns  Stock returns	
CHAPTER 3:	Gauging market-value risk  Assessing individual-investment risk  Purchasing-power risk (also known as inflation risk)  Avoiding career risk.  Analysing Returns  Gathering the components of total return  Savings and money market account returns.  Bond returns  Stock returns  Property returns	
CHAPTER 3:	Gauging market-value risk Assessing individual-investment risk Purchasing-power risk (also known as inflation risk) Avoiding career risk.  Analysing Returns Gathering the components of total return Savings and money market account returns. Bond returns Stock returns Property returns Considering Your Goals  Getting Your Financial House in Order	25 32 34 34 36 37 38 41
CHAPTER 3:	Gauging market-value risk Assessing individual-investment risk Purchasing-power risk (also known as inflation risk) Avoiding career risk.  Analysing Returns Gathering the components of total return Savings and money market account returns. Bond returns Stock returns Property returns Considering Your Goals	25 30 34 34 36 37 38 41
CHAPTER 3:	Gauging market-value risk  Assessing individual-investment risk  Purchasing-power risk (also known as inflation risk)  Avoiding career risk.  Analysing Returns  Gathering the components of total return  Savings and money market account returns.  Bond returns  Stock returns  Property returns  Considering Your Goals  Getting Your Financial House in Order  Establishing an Emergency Reserve	

	Establishing Your Financial Goals	48
	Tracking your savings rate	48
	Determining your investment tastes	49
	Funding Your Retirement Accounts	
	Gaining tax benefits	51
	Starting your savings sooner	
	Checking out pension or retirement account options	
	ISAs for Everything	
	Taking charge through a SIPP	
	Considering other tax-efficient products	
	Weighing the risks of the Enterprise Investment Scheme	
	Pensions versus other tax-efficient products	
	Taming Your Taxes in Non-Retirement Accounts	
	Figuring out your tax bracket	
	Knowing what's taxed and when to worry	
	Choosing the Right Investment Mix	
	Considering your age	
	Making the most of your investment options	
	Easing into risk: Pound cost averaging	
	Treading Carefully When Investing for Protecting Your Assets	66
PART 2	2: STOCKS AND BONDS	67
CHAPTER 4:	The Workings of Stock and Bond Markets	69
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the	
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.	69
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds	69
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds	69 70
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets	69 70 71
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.	69 70 71 74
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.	69 70 71 74 74
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.	69 70 71 74 74
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs.  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and	69 70 74 74 75
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks.	69 71 74 74 75 76
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks.  Understanding the British Conundrum.	69 71 74 75 75 76
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks.  Understanding the British Conundrum.  Focusing on the British opportunity.	69 70 74 74 75 76 78 82
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks.  Understanding the British Conundrum.  Focusing on the British opportunity.  Considering British benchmark indices.	69 70 74 75 76 76 82 86
CHAPTER 4:	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks.  Understanding the British Conundrum.  Focusing on the British opportunity.	69 70 74 75 76 76 82 86
	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks.  Understanding the British Conundrum.  Focusing on the British opportunity.  Considering British benchmark indices.	69 71 74 75 76 78 82 86 87
	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs  Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks.  Understanding the British Conundrum.  Focusing on the British opportunity.  Considering British benchmark indices.  Exploring European markets.	69 70 74 75 76 78 82 86 87 88
	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds. Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs Understanding Financial Markets and Economics. Driving stock prices through earnings. Weighing whether markets are efficient Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum. Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks. Understanding the British Conundrum Focusing on the British opportunity. Considering British benchmark indices Exploring European markets.  Building Wealth with Stocks	69 71 74 75 76 78 82 86 87 88
	Seeing How Companies Raise Money through the Financial Markets.  Deciding whether to issue stocks or bonds.  Taking a company public: Understanding IPOs Understanding Financial Markets and Economics.  Driving stock prices through earnings.  Weighing whether markets are efficient.  Benefitting from the power of FOMO, or momentum.  Moving the market: Interest rates, inflation, and central banks.  Understanding the British Conundrum.  Focusing on the British opportunity.  Considering British benchmark indices.  Exploring European markets.  Building Wealth with Stocks.  Taking Stock of How You Make Money	69 71 74 75 76 78 82 86 87 88

	Stock-Buying Methods	97
	Buying stocks via funds and exchange-traded funds	97
	Using hedge funds and privately managed funds	99
	Exploring the Venerable Alternative: Investment Trusts	100
	Understanding the structural advantages of	
	investment trusts	101
	Comparing investment trusts with other fund structures	102
	Selecting individual stocks yourself	103
	Spotting the Right Times to Buy and Sell	104
	Calculating price-earnings ratios	105
	Citing times of speculative excess	106
	Buying more when stocks are 'on sale'	
	Avoiding Problematic Stock-Buying Practices	117
	Beware of adviser conflicts of interest	118
	Don't short-term trade or try to time the market	118
	Be wary of gurus	122
	Shun penny stocks	122
	Using the Keys to Stock Market Success	123
	Investigating and Durchasing Individual	
CHAPTER 6:	Investigating and Purchasing Individual	
	Stocks	
	Building on Others' Research	
	Making investment research easy	
	Considering independent brokerage research	
	Examining successful money managers' stock picks	
	Reviewing financial publications and websites	
	Understanding Annual Reports	
	Financial and business highlights	
	The balance sheet	
	Income statement	
	Exploring Other Useful Corporate Reports	
	10-Ks	
	10-Qs	
	Getting Ready to Invest in Stocks	
	Understanding stock prices	
	Placing your trade through a broker	
	The ESG statement	138
CHAPTED 7.	Exploring Bonds and Other Loan Investments	1⊿1
CHAITER /.	Banks: Considering the Cost of Feeling Secure	
	Facing the realities of bank insurance	
	Online banking: More for you?	
	Being wary of savings bonds	
	Swapping your savings account for a money market fund	
	Swapping your savings account for a money market fulla	143

	Why Bother with Bonds?	147
	Assessing the Different Types of Bonds	149
	Determining when you get your money back:	
	Maturity matters	149
	Weighing the likelihood of default	150
	Examining the issuers (and tax implications)	151
	Buying Bonds	153
	Deciding between individual bonds and bond funds	
	Understanding bond prices	
	Purchasing gilts	
	What you must know about gilts	
	Shopping for other individual bonds	
CHAPTER O.	Mastering Unit Trusts and Exchange-	
CHAPTER 8:	Traded Funds	150
	Distinguishing between 'Traditional' Unit Trust Funds	133
	and Exchange-Traded Funds	160
	Discovering the Benefits of the Best Funds	
	Hiring professional management	
	Benefitting from cost efficiency	
	Diversifying your investments	
	Reasonable investment minimums	
	Different funds for different folks	
	Attaining high financial safety	
	Easing accessibility	
	Reviewing the Keys to Successful Fund Investing	
	Minimising costs	
	Reflecting on performance and risk	
	Sticking with experience	
	Considering index funds	
	Steer clear of leveraged and inverse exchange-traded funds	
	Creating Your Fund Portfolio with Asset Allocation	
	Allocating for the long term	
	Diversifying your equity funds	
	Discovering the Best Equity Funds	
	Making money with equity funds	
	Exploring different types of equity funds	
	Unveiling the Best Bond Funds	
	Avoiding yield-related missteps	
	Treading carefully with actively managed bond funds	180
	Stabilising your portfolio by investing in short-term	
	bond funds	
	Earning higher returns with intermediate-term bond funds	
	Using long-term bond funds to invest aggressively	181

	Choosing Balanced and Asset Allocation Funds:	400
	The Best Hybrid Funds	
	Revealing the Best Money Market Funds	182
CHAPTER 9:	Choosing an Investment Platform	185
	Getting Your Money's Worth: Investment Platforms	
	and the Big Bang	186
	Tell Sid to get a PEP	187
	Paying for advice	
	Investment Platforms: Understanding What They	
	Offer and What They Cost	
	Watching out for hidden costs	
	Analysing costs across providers	
	Selecting an Investment Platform	
	Considering Online Investment Platforms	
	Examining your online trading motives	
	Looking at service quality	195
DADE	CROWING WEATTH WITH RROBERTY	
PARIS	B: GROWING WEALTH WITH PROPERTY	197
CHAPTER 10:	Investing in a Home	199
	Achieving Your Financial Goals through Home Ownership .	
	Making the Decision to Buy	
	Weighing the pros and cons of ownership	
	Recouping transaction costs	
	Deciding How Much to Spend	
	Looking through lenders' eyes	
	Determining your down payment	206
	Finding the Right Property and Location	207
	Keeping an open mind	
	Research, research, research	208
	Understanding market value	210
	Pounding the pavement	210
	Investing in Property	211
CHAPTER 11:	Investing in Property	
	Exploring Property Investment Attractions	
	Limited land	
	Leverage	
	Appreciation and income	
	Ability to add value	
	Ego gratification	
	Longer-term focus	
	Figuring Out Who Should Avoid Property Investing	216

	Examining Simple, Profitable Property Investments	.216
	Finding a place to call home	.217
	Trying out property investment trusts	
	Evaluating Direct Property Investments	.219
	Considering residential housing	.219
	Looking at land	
	Examining commercial real estate	.221
	Deciding Where and What to Buy	
	Considering economic issues	
	Taking a look at the property market	
	Examining property valuation and financial projections	
	Discovering the information you need	
	Digging for a Good Deal	
	Recognizing Inferior Property 'Investments'	
	Avoiding ticking timeshares	
	Looking at the UK tax system and investing in property	
	Ignoring hucksters and scams	.236
	Duan autor Financina and Daal Malina	
CHAPTER 12:	Property Financing and Deal Making	
	Financing Your Property Investments	
	Getting your loan approved	
	Comparing fixed-rate with variable-rate mortgages	
	Choosing between variable- and fixed-rate mortgages	
	Examining other mortgage fees	
	Finding the best lenders	
	Refinancing for a better deal	
	Working with Estate Agents	
	Recognizing estate agent conflicts of interest	
	Selecting a good estate agent	
	Closing the Deal	
	Negotiating 101	
	Inspecting the property	
	Selling Property	
	Negotiating estate agents' contracts	
	Forgoing a estate agent	.255
DART 4	THE DART OF TENS	257
PARI 4	: THE PART OF TENS	. 257
CHAPTER 13:	Ten Investing Obstacles to Conquer	. 259
	Trusting Authority	
	Getting Swept Up by Euphoria	
	Being Overconfident	
	Giving Up When Things Look Bleak	
	Refusing to Accept a Loss	

	Over-Monitoring Your Investments	.264 .264
	Believing in Gurus	
CHAPTER 14	Ten Things to Weigh When Considering	
	an Investment Sale	267
	Remembering Preferences and Goals	.267
	Maintaining Balance in Your Portfolio	.268
	Deciding Which Ones Are Keepers	.268
	Tuning In to the Tax Consequences	
	Selling Investments with Hefty Profits	
	Cutting Your (Securities) Losses	
	Dealing with Unknown Costs	
	Recognizing Investment Platform Differences	
	Finding a Trustworthy Financial Advisor	
	Sitting on Cash	.∠/ ۱
CHAPTER 15	Ten Tips for Investing in a Down Stock	
	Market	273
	Don't Panic	
	Keep Your Portfolio's Perspective in Mind	
	View Major Declines as Sales	
	Identify Your Portfolio's Problems	
	Avoid Growth Stocks If You Get Queasy Easily	
	Tune Out Negative, Hyped Media	
	Ignore Large Point Declines but Consider the Percentages	.277
	Don't Believe You Need a Rich Dad to Be a Successful Investor	.277
	Understand the Financial Markets	
	Talk to People Who Care about You	.278
INIDEV		270

## Introduction

ith each new edition of this investing guide, the core investment philosophy discussed in this book has stood the test of time and changing market forces.

During the financial crisis of 2008, things got scary. Large Wall Street firms were going under, stock prices were plummeting, and layoffs and unemployment rates were soaring. And all this was happening in the midst of the 2008 US presidential election. Talk of another Great Depression (Great Slump in the UK) was in the air. Housing prices were dropping sharply in most communities, and more and more properties were ending up in foreclosure.

Investing didn't seem so fun anymore. However, even though the downturn was the worst in decades, it had similarities to prior downturns, and people who kept their sense of perspective and followed the advice in this book have enjoyed tremendous returns since the market bottom.

Fast-forward to 2020. Stock prices continued to rise to new highs despite periodic setbacks. And then the coronavirus upset the good times and quickly reminded us that investing involves risks and sharp price declines, often when least expected. Stocks surged to new highs in 2024 despite concerns of higher inflation in recent years.

Everyone can increase their wealth by doing the following:

- >> Living within their means and systematically saving and investing money, ideally in a tax-favoured manner
- >> Buying and holding a globally diversified portfolio of stocks
- >> Investing in property

This book explains each of these wealth boosters in detail. Equally as important, if not more so, however, is the information we provide to help you understand and choose investments that are compatible with your personal and financial goals.

#### **About This Book**

The best investment vehicles for building wealth — stocks and property — haven't changed. But you still need money to play in the investment world. Like the first edition of *Investing For Dummies*, the 10th edition of this international bestseller includes complete coverage of these wealth-building investments as well as other investments. Among the biggest changes in this edition:

- with the latest insights and analyses. Having trouble comprehending whether the Federal Reserve or Bank of England's interest rate policy and stubborn inflation will impact the stock market? Worried about what impact the election will have on the economy and financial markets? Confused with the increasing array of pension account savings options? Curious how current and potential future tax laws may impact your investment strategies? Wondering why people are talking about cryptocurrencies like Bitcoin, Ethereum, and Solana, and crypto ETFs, and whether you should invest? Contemplating using an online broker that is advertising "free" trading? Weighing whether and where to invest in property given current market conditions? Wondering what the best ways are to invest globally? Having trouble making sense of various economic indicators and what they mean to your investment strategy? You can find the answers to these questions and many more in this edition.
- With the tremendous growth in websites, software, apps, publications, media outlets, and other sources of investing advice and information, you're probably overwhelmed in choosing among the numerous investing research tools and resources. Equally problematic is figuring out who you can trust and who to ignore. So many pundits and prognosticators claim excellent track records for their past predictions, but who, really, can you believe? This book explains how to evaluate the quality of current investment tools and resources, and provides some lists of proven, quality resources.

To build wealth, you don't need a fancy graduate-school degree, and you don't need a rich dad (or mum), biological or adopted! What you do need is a desire to read and practice the many simple yet powerful lessons and strategies in this book.

Seriously, investing intelligently isn't rocket science. By all means, if you're dealing with a complicated, atypical issue, get quality professional help. If you do decide to hire someone, you'll be much better prepared if you educate yourself. Doing so can also help you focus your questions and assess that person's competence.

## **Foolish Assumptions**

Every book is written with a certain reader in mind, and this book is no different. Here are some assumptions made about you:

- >> You may have some investments, but you're looking to develop a full-scale investment plan.
- >> You'd like to strengthen your portfolio.
- >> You want to evaluate your investment advisor's or broker's advice or other investment ideas.
- >> You have a company-sponsored investment plan, like a 401(k), and you're looking to make some decisions or roll it over into a new plan.

If one or more of these descriptions sound familiar, you've come to the right place.

#### Icons Used in This Book

Throughout this book, icons help guide you through the maze of suggestions, solutions, and cautions. The following icons make your journey through investment strategies smoother.



If you see this icon, we're pointing out companies, products, services, and resources that have proved to be exceptional over the years. These are resources that we would or do use personally or would recommend to our friends and family.



This icon is used to highlight an issue that requires more detective work on your part. Don't worry, though; we prepare you for your work so you don't have to start out as a novice gumshoe.



The name says it all, but this icon indicates something really, really important don't you forget it!



Skip it or read it; the choice is yours. You'll fill your head with more stuff that may prove valuable as you expand your investing know-how, but you risk overdosing on stuff that you may not need right away.



This icon denotes strategies that can enable you to build wealth faster and leap over tall obstacles in a single bound.



WARNING

This icon indicates treacherous territory that has made mincemeat out of lesser mortals who have come before you. Skip this point at your own peril.

## **Beyond the Book**

In addition to the material in the print or e-book you're reading right now, this product comes with a free access-anywhere Cheat Sheet that can set you on the path to successful investing. To get this Cheat Sheet, simply go to www.dummies.com and search for "Investing For Dummies Cheat Sheet" in the Search box.

#### Where to Go from Here

If you have the time and desire, we encourage you to read this book in its entirety. It provides you with a detailed picture of how to maximise your returns while minimising your risks through wealth-building investments. But you don't have to read this book cover to cover. If you have a specific question or two that you want to focus on today, or if you want to find some additional information tomorrow, that's not a problem. *Investing For Dummies*, 10th Edition, makes it easy to find answers to specific questions. Just turn to the table of contents or the index to locate the information you need. You can get in and get out, just like that.

# Getting Started with Investing

#### IN THIS PART . . .

Become familiar with the different types of investments you have to choose from, including stocks, bonds, property, and funds.

Deepen your understanding of risks and returns so you can make informed investing decisions and react to changes in the market.

Make wise investing decisions that fit with your overall financial situation and goals.

- » Defining investing
- Seeing how stocks, bonds, and property ownership build longterm wealth
- » Understanding the role of lending and other investments
- » Knowing where not to invest your money

## Chapter **1**

## **Exploring Your Investment Choices**

f you want to accomplish important personal and financial goals, such as owning a home, starting your own business, helping your kids through college (and spending more time with them when they're young), retiring comfortably, and so on, you must know how to invest well.

It's been said, and too often quoted, that the only certainties in life are death and taxes. To these two certainties we add one more: being confused by and ignorant about investing. Because investing is a confounding activity, you may be tempted to look with envious eyes at those people in the world who appear to be savvy with money and investing. Remember that everyone starts with the same level of financial knowledge: none! *No one* was born knowing this stuff! The only difference between those who know and those who don't is that those who know have either devoted their time and energy to acquiring useful knowledge about the investment world or had parents who instilled in them a good base of investing knowledge.

### **Getting Started with Investing**

Before we discuss the major investing alternatives in the rest of this chapter, we want to start with something that's quite basic yet important. What exactly do we mean when we say "investing"? Simply stated, *investing* means you have money put away for future use.

You can choose from tens of thousands of stocks, bonds, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds, and other investments. Unfortunately for the novice, and even for the experts who are honest with you, knowing the name of the investment is just the tip of the iceberg. Underneath each of these investments lurks a veritable mountain of details.



If you wanted to and had the ability to quit your day job, you could make a fultime endeavour out of analysing economic trends and financial statements and talking to business employees, customers, suppliers, and so on. However, we don't want to scare you away from investing just because some people do it on a full-time basis. Making wise investments need not take a lot of your time. If you know where to get high-quality information and you purchase well-managed investments, you can leave the investment management to the best experts. Then you can do the work that you're best at and have more free time for the things you really enjoy doing.

An important part of making wise investments is knowing when you have enough information to do things well on your own versus when you should hire others. For example, European and many international stock markets are generally more difficult to research and understand than domestic markets. Thus, when investing overseas, hiring a good money manager, such as through a mutual or exchange-traded fund, makes more sense than going to all the time, trouble, and expense of picking individual international stocks.

We're here to give you the information you need to make your way through the complex investment world. In the rest of this chapter, we clear a path so you can identify the major investments and understand the strengths and weaknesses of each.

## **Building Wealth with Ownership Investments**



If you want your money to produce returns higher than the rate of inflation over the long term and you don't mind a bit of a roller-coaster ride from time to time in your investments' values, ownership investments are for you. *Ownership investments* are those investments where you own an interest in some company or other asset (such as stock or property) that has the ability to generate revenue and profits.

Observing how the world's richest have built their wealth is enlightening. Not surprisingly, many of the champions of wealth around the globe gained their fortunes largely through owning a piece (or all) of a successful company that they (or others) built.

In addition to owning their own businesses, many well-to-do people have built their nest eggs by investing in real estate and the stock market. With softening housing prices in many regions in the late 2000s, some folks newer to the real estate world incorrectly thought that real estate was a loser, not a long-term winner. Likewise, the stock market goes through down periods but does well over the long term. (See Chapter 2 for the scoop on investment risks and returns.)

And, of course, some people come into wealth through an inheritance. Even if your parents are among the rare wealthy ones and you expect them to direct big bucks to you, you need to know how to invest that money intelligently.



If you understand and are comfortable with the risks and take sensible steps to *diversify* (you don't put all your investment eggs in the same basket), ownership investments are the key to building wealth. For most folks to accomplish typical longer-term financial goals, such as retiring, the money that they save and invest needs to grow at a healthy clip. If you dump all your money in bank accounts that pay little if any interest, you're more likely to fall short of your goals.

Not everyone needs to make their money grow, of course. Suppose that you inherit a significant sum and/or maintain a restrained standard of living and work well into your old age simply because you enjoy doing so. In this situation, you may not need to take the risks involved with a potentially faster–growth investment. You may be more comfortable with *safer* investments, such as paying off your mort–gage faster than necessary. (Chapter 3 helps you think through such issues.)

#### **Entering the stock market**

Stocks, which are shares of ownership in a company, are an example of an ownership investment. If you want to share in the growth and profits of companies like Skechers (footwear), you can! You simply buy shares of their stock through an investment firm. However, even if Skechers makes money in the future, you can't guarantee that the value of its stock will increase.



You don't need an MBA or a PhD to make money in the stock market. If you can practice some simple lessons, such as making regular and systematic investments and investing in proven companies and funds while minimising your investment expenses and taxes, you should make decent returns in the long term.

However, we don't think you should expect that you can "beat the markets," and you certainly are not likely to beat the best professional money managers at their own full-time game. This book shows you time-proven, non-gimmicky methods to make your money grow in the stock market as well as in other financial markets. We explain more about stocks and mutual and exchange-traded funds in Part 2.

#### **Owning property**

People of varying economic means build wealth by investing in property. Owning and managing property is like running a small business. You need to satisfy customers (tenants), manage your costs, keep an eye on the competition, and so on. Some methods of property investing require more time than others, but many are proven ways to build wealth.

John, who works for a local government, and his wife, Linda, a computer analyst, have built several million pounds in investment property *equity* (the difference between the property's market value and debts owed) over the decades. "Our parents owned rental property, and we could see what it could do for you by providing income and building wealth," says John. Investing in property also appealed to John and Linda because they didn't know anything about the stock market, so they wanted to stay away from that. The idea of *leverage* — making money with borrowed money — on real estate also appealed to them.

John and Linda bought their first property, a flat, when their combined annual income (decades ago) was just £35,000. Every time they moved to a new home, they kept the prior one and converted it to a rental. Now in their 60s, John and Linda own seven pieces of investment real estate and are multimillionaires. "It's like a second retirement, having thousands in monthly income from the real estate," says John.

## WHO WANTS TO INVEST LIKE A MILLIONAIRE?

Having a million pounds isn't nearly as rare as it used to be. In fact, according to the government numbers organisation, the Office for National Statistics (ONS), around 3.6 million households in Britain had wealth in excess of £1 million, according to the latest data (collected in 2016). This was up 29 per cent on the figures collected two years before. Interestingly, households with wealth of at least £1 million rarely let financial advisors direct their investments. The UK is like the US where surveys show that only one of ten such households allows advisors to call the shots and make the moves, whereas 30 per cent don't use any advisors at all. The remaining 60 per cent consult an advisor on an as-needed basis and then make their own moves.

As in past surveys, recent wealth surveys show that affluent investors achieved and built on their wealth with ownership investments, such as their own small businesses, property, and stocks.

John readily admits that rental real estate has its hassles. "We haven't enjoyed getting some calls in the middle of the night, but now we have a property manager who can help with this when we're not available. It's also sometimes a pain finding new tenants," he says.

Overall, John and Linda figure that they've been well rewarded for the time they spent and the money they invested. The income from John and Linda's rental properties also allows them to live in a nicer home.



TIF

Ultimately, to make your money grow much faster than inflation and taxes, you must take some risk. Any investment that has real growth potential also has shrinkage potential! You may not want to take the risk or may not have the stomach for it. In that case, don't despair: we discuss lower-risk investments in this book as well. You can find out about risks and returns in Chapter 2.

## Generating Income from Lending Investments

Besides ownership investments (which we discuss in the earlier section, "Building Wealth with Ownership Investments"), the other major types of investments include those in which you lend your money. Suppose that, like most people, you

keep some money in a bank, either locally or online — most likely in a current account but perhaps also in a savings account. No matter what type of bank account you place your money in, you're lending your money to the bank.



How long and under what conditions you lend money to your bank depends on the specific bank and the account that you use. With a fixed rate savings bond, you commit to lend your money to the bank for a specific length of time — perhaps six months or even one or more years. In return, the bank probably pays you a higher rate of interest than if you put your money in a bank account offering you immediate access to the money. (You may demand termination of the savings bond early; however, you'll usually be penalised.)



## THE DOUBLE WHAMMY OF INFLATION AND TAXES

Bank accounts and bonds that pay a decent return are reassuring to many investors. Earning a small amount of interest sure beats losing some or all of your money in a risky investment.

The problem is that money in a savings account, for example, that pays 1.5 per cent isn't actually yielding you 1.5 per cent. It's not that the bank is lying; it's just that your investment bucket contains some not-so-obvious holes.

The first hole is taxes. When you earn interest, you must pay taxes on it. If you're a moderate-income earner, you may end up losing about a fifth of your interest to taxes. Your 1.5 per cent return is now down to 1.2 per cent.

But the second hole in your investment bucket can be even bigger than taxes: inflation. Although a few products become cheaper over time (computers, for example), most goods and services increase in price. Inflation in the United Kingdom has been running about 2.5 per cent per year over recent years (3 per cent over the much longer term). Inflation depresses the purchasing power of your investments' returns. If you subtract the 2.5 per cent "cost" of inflation from the remaining 1 per cent after payment of taxes, we're sorry to say that you've lost 1 per cent on your investment.

For every pound you saved in the bank a year ago, despite the fact that the bank paid you your 1.5 pence of interest, you're left with only 99 pence in real purchasing power for every pound you had a year ago. In other words, thanks to the inflation and tax holes in your investment bucket, you can buy less with your money now than you could have a year ago, even though you've invested your money for a year.

As we discuss in more detail in Chapter 7, you can also invest your money in bonds, another type of lending investment. When you purchase a bond that's been issued by the government or a company, you agree to lend your money for a predetermined period of time and receive a particular rate of interest. A bond may pay you 5 per cent interest over the next ten years, for example.

An investor's return from lending investments is typically limited to the original investment plus interest payments. If you lend your money to Netflix through one of its bonds that matures in, say, ten years, and Netflix triples in size over the next decade, you won't share in its growth. Netflix's stockholders and employees reap the rewards of the company's success, but as a bondholder, you don't; you simply get interest and the face value of the bond back at maturity.



Some folks keep too much of their money in lending investments, thus allowing others to reap the rewards of economic growth. Although lending investments appear safer because you know in advance what return you'll receive, they aren't that safe. The long-term risk of these seemingly safe money investments is that your money will grow too slowly to enable you to accomplish your personal financial goals. In the worst cases, the company or other institution to which you're lending money can go under and default on your loan.

## **Considering Cash Equivalents**

Cash equivalents are any investments that you can quickly convert to cash without cost to you. With most bank current accounts, for example, you can conduct online transactions to pay bills, do the old-fashioned writing of a cheque, or withdraw cash through an ATM machine or from retailers like a grocery store that enable you to get cash back when making a purchase.

Money market mutual funds are another type of cash equivalent. Investors, both large and small, invest billions of pounds in money market funds because the best money market funds historically have produced higher yields than bank savings accounts. The yield advantage of a money market fund over a savings account almost always widens when interest rates increase because banks move to raise savings account rates about as quickly as molasses on a cold winter day.

Why shouldn't you take advantage of a higher yield? Many bank savers sacrifice this yield because they think that money market funds are risky — but they're not. Money market mutual funds generally invest in safe things such as short-term bank certificates of deposit, government bonds (or *gilts* as they're called), and commercial paper (short-term bonds) that the most creditworthy corporations issue.

Another reason people keep too much money in traditional bank accounts is that the local bank branch office or online bank makes the cash seem more accessible. Money market mutual funds, however, offer many quick ways to get your cash. Most money market mutual funds can be accessed online, just like most bank accounts.



Move extra money that's dozing away in your bank savings account into a higheryielding money market fund. Even if you have just a few thousand pounds, the extra yield more than pays for the cost of this book. (See Chapter 8 to find out about money market funds.)

## **Steering Clear of Futures and Options**

Suppose you think that Tesla's stock is a good investment, despite all the recent adverse publicity. The direction that the management team is taking impresses you, and you like the products and services that the company offers. Profits seem to be on a positive trend. Things are looking up.

You can go out and buy the stock. Suppose that it's currently trading at around £100 per share. If the price rises to £150 in the next six months, you've made yourself a 50 per cent profit (£150 – £100 = £50) on your original £100 investment. (Of course, you will incur some brokerage fees to buy and then sell the stock.)

But instead of buying the stock outright, you can buy what are known as *call options* on Tesla. A call option gives you the right to buy shares of Tesla under specified terms from the person who sells you the call option. You may be able to purchase a call option that allows you to exercise your right to buy Tesla stock at, say, £120 per share in the next six months. For this privilege, you may pay £6 per share to the seller of that option (and you'll also pay trading commissions).

If Tesla's stock price skyrockets to, say, £150 in the next few months, the value of your options that allow you to buy the stock at £120 will be worth a lot — at least £30. You can then simply sell your options, which you bought for £6 in the example, at a huge profit — you've multiplied your money five-fold!



Although this talk of fat profits sounds much more exciting than simply buying the stock directly and making far less money from a stock price increase, call options have two big problems:

>> You could easily lose your entire investment. If a company's stock price goes nowhere or rises only a little during the six-month period when you hold the call option, the option expires as worthless, and you lose all — that is,

100 per cent — of your investment. In fact, in this example, if Tesla's stock trades at £120 or less at the time the option expires, the option is worthless.

>> A call option represents a short-term gamble on a company's stock price, not an investment in the actual company. In this example, Tesla could expand its business and profits greatly in the years and decades ahead, but the value of the call option hinges on the ups and downs of Tesla's stock price over a relatively short period of time (the next six months). If the stock market happens to dip in the next six months, Tesla may get pulled down as well, despite the company's improving financial health.



Futures are similar to options in that both can be used as gambling instruments. Futures, for example, can deal with the value of commodities such as heating oil, corn, wheat, gold, silver, and pork bellies. Futures have a delivery date that's in the not-too-distant future. (Do you really want bushels of wheat delivered to your home? Or worse yet, pork bellies?) You can place a small down payment — around 10 per cent — towards the purchase of futures, thereby greatly leveraging your "investment." If prices fall, you need to put up more money to keep from having your position sold. (Note: Futures on financial instruments like stock market indices and interest rates are generally cash settlement rather than physical delivery, and they're an increasingly large part of the market.) Our advice: Don't gamble with futures and options.



The only real use that you may (if ever) have for these *derivatives* (so called because their value is "derived" from the price of other securities) is to hedge. Suppose you hold a lot of a stock that has greatly appreciated, and you don't want to sell now because of the taxes you would owe on the profit. Perhaps you want to postpone selling the stock until next year because you plan on not working or because you can then benefit from a lower tax rate. You can buy what's called a *put option*, which increases in value when a stock's price falls (because the put option grants its seller the right to sell their stock to the purchaser of the put option at a preset stock price). Thus, if the stock price does fall, the rising put option value offsets some of your losses on the stock you still hold. Using put options allows you to postpone selling your stock without exposing yourself to the risk of a falling stock price.

## **Mulling Over Precious Metals**

Over the millennia, gold and silver have served as mediums of exchange or currency because they have some intrinsic value and can't be debased the way paper currencies can (by printing more money). These precious metals are used in jewellery and manufacturing.

As investments, gold and silver perform well during bouts of inflation. For example, from 1972 to 1980, when inflation zoomed into the double-digit range in the United States and the United Kingdom, and stocks and bonds went into the tank, gold and silver prices skyrocketed more than 500 per cent. With precious metals pricing zooming upward in the decade that began in 2000, some feared the return of inflation. Gold and silver moved higher in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic and the higher inflation that resulted from the aggressive expansion of the money supply and government spending.



Over the long term, precious metals are lousy investments. They don't pay any dividends, and their price increases may, at best, just keep up with (not keep ahead of) increases in the cost of living. Although investing in precious metals is better than keeping cash in a piggy bank or stuffing it in a mattress, the long-term investment returns aren't nearly as good as quality bonds, stocks, and real estate. (We discuss bonds, stocks, and real estate in detail in Parts 2 and 3.) One way to possibly earn better long-term returns is to invest in a mutual fund or exchange-traded fund containing the stocks of gold and precious metals companies (see Chapter 8 for information).

## Contemplating Currencies and Cryptocurrencies

From time to time, you may see some ads or articles touting investing in currencies such as the US dollar, Swiss franc, Japanese yen, and so on. Because such currencies have the backing of their particular country's government, they are usually somewhat stable unless the country has a problematic economic situation (really high inflation) or troublesome finances (extremely high levels of government debt that will make repayment difficult).



But we shouldn't really call placing your money into a specific currency in the hopes it will rise in value relative to other currencies investing because it's more akin to gambling. Currency movements are influenced by many factors and are nearly impossible to predict, even for investment experts who follow them far more closely than you would.

In recent years, a whole new collection of so-called digital or online "currencies" known as *cryptocurrency* have been promoted by those who created them and hoped to make big returns. We find that far more young adults know about Bitcoin, Ethereum, Solana, and other cryptocurrencies than older folks do. That makes sense since it's a digital currency used for internet transactions.